



www.elsevier.com/locate/jjcc

Myocardial ischemia: Current concepts and future perspectives

Hiroaki Shimokawa (MD, PhD, FJCC)*, Satoshi Yasuda (MD, PhD)

Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine, 1-1 Seiryo-machi, Aoba-ku, Sendai 980-8574, Japan

Received 18 July 2008; accepted 18 July 2008 Available online 4 September 2008

KEYWORDS

Myocardial ischemia; Endothelium; Atherosclerosis; Nitric oxide; Vasoconstriction Summary Ischemic heart disease is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in a worldwide epidemic. Myocardial ischemia is characterized by an imbalance between myocardial oxygen supply and demand, causing cardiac dysfunction, arrhythmias, myocardial infarction, and sudden death. Various clinical ischemic manifestations are caused by obstruction of coronary blood flow by coronary plagues, thrombosis, and/or hyperconstriction/vasospasm of epicardial and microvascular coronary arteries, in which gender difference also is involved due in part to estrogen hormonal state. The coronary circulation matches blood flow with oxygen requirements by coordinating the resistances within microvasculature, where the endothelium plays an important role by liberating several vasodilator substances. The impaired endothelial regulation is involved in the pathogenesis of a wide variety of cardiovascular diseases and therefore is an important therapeutic target. Activation of Rho-kinase pathway is involved in the pathogenesis of both endothelial dysfunction and vascular smooth muscle hypercontraction and also should be an important therapeutic target. © 2008 Japanese College of Cardiology. Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights

© 2008 Japanese College of Cardiology. Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

| Introduction | 68 |
|---|----|
| Myocardial ischemia and its assessment | 68 |
| Relevance of microvascular dysfunction in the pathogenesis of myocardial ischemia | 69 |
| Endothelium-dependent modulation of coronary tone | 69 |
| Endothelium-derived NO | 69 |
| Prostacyclin | 69 |
| EDHF | 70 |

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 22 717 7151; fax: +81 22 717 7156. E-mail addresses: shimo@cardio.med.tohoku.ac.jp, jc-admin@m2.kufm.kagoshima-u.ac.jp (H. Shimokawa).

0914-5087/\$ - see front matter © 2008 Japanese College of Cardiology. Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jjcc.2008.07.016

| Clinical implications of endothelial dysfunction | 71 |
|---|----|
| Microvascular angina (cardiac syndrome X) | 71 |
| Microvascular spasm and Rho-kinase | 72 |
| Potential involvement of estrogen in the gender difference of microvascular dysfunction | 73 |
| Future strategies to improve vascular dysfunction | 74 |
| Conclusions | 75 |
| Acknowledgments | 75 |
| References | 75 |
| | |

Introduction

Ischemic heart disease is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in a worldwide epidemic. Myocardial ischemia is characterized by an imbalance between myocardial oxygen supply and demand, causing cardiac dysfunction, arrhythmias, myocardial infarction, and sudden death. Various clinical ischemic manifestations are caused by obstruction of coronary blood flow by coronary stenosis, thrombosis, and/or hyperconstriction (vasospasm) of epicardial and microvascular coronary arteries.

The coronary circulation matches blood flow with myocardial oxygen demand by coordinating the vascular resistances within microvasculature, where the endothelium plays an important role [1,2]. The endothelium also regulates the tone of the underlying vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) by releasing several endothelium-derived relaxing factors, such as nitric oxide (NO), prostacyclin, and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF) [1,2]. The cells also release several vasoconstricting factors, such as endothelin, superoxide anions (O_2^-) , and thromboxane, under certain pathological conditions [1,2]. Endothelial dysfunction is regarded as a clinical syndrome that exhibits systemic manifestation of atherosclerosis and resultant myocardial ischemia, and is associated with significant morbidity and mortality [1,2].

In this review article, we will briefly review the current concepts and future perspectives on myocardial ischemia, with a special reference to endothelial dysfunction, the Rho-kinase pathway, and microvascular angina.

Myocardial ischemia and its assessment

Myocardial ischemia is defined as an imbalance between myocardial oxygen demand and supply [3]. In patients with ischemic heart disease, the presence of myocardial ischemia is an important determinant of prognosis [4] and several diagnostic methods are currently used to detect myocardial ischemia in the clinical setting (Table 1).

Myocardial ischemia is clinically indicated by transient ST-segment electrocardiogram (ECG) changes on exercise or pharmacological stress test and reversible perfusion defects on stress myocardial scintigraphy. Metabolic changes, including myocardial lactate production, coronary sinus oxygen desaturation, and pH reduction in the coronary sinus, are also important objective proof of myocardial ischemia. Myocardial release of lipid peroxide products in the coronary circulation is a marker of myocardial ischemia with a high sensitivity even for brief and/or mild myocardial ischemia [5]. Myocardial phosphorus-31 nuclear magnetic resonance (³¹P NMR) spectroscopy is another sensitive method to identify myocardial ischemia by measuring myocardial high-energy phosphates phosphocreatine and adenosine triphosphate [6]. In addition to those ischemic metabolites, left ventricular wall motion abnormalities, detected by two-dimensional stress echocardiography, is a useful diagnostic method [7].

Measurement of coronary blood flow is useful, but only provides information associated with myocardial ischemia. Positron-emission tomography (PET) allows the quantitative calculation of coronary blood flow [8]. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with intravenous infusion of contrast media can also be used for the guantification of myocardial blood flow [9]. Coronary flow reserve is expressed by the ratio of blood flow during maximal hyperemia (e.g. adenosine or papaverine) to that at rest. Coronary flow reserve can be measured invasively by the thermodilution or Doppler technique [10] and is considered abnormal when it is less than 2.0. Trans-thoracic color Doppler echocardiography enables noninvasive assessment of coronary flow/velocity reserve, especially in the territory of the left anterior descending coronary artery [11,12]. Since flow resistance is mainly determined at the microvascular level, especially in patients with angiographically normal arteries, the reduction in coronary flow reserve reflects coronary microvascular dysfunction.

| Exercise stress test, Holter ECG |
|---|
| Thallium-201, Technetium-99m |
| Myocardial lactate production, coronary sinus O_2 desaturation, pH reduction, lipid peroxides |
| High-energy phosphates phosphocreatine, adenosine triphosphate |
| |
| Oxygen-15, nitrogen-13, rubidium-82 |
| Perfusion and diffusion imaging |
| Thermodilution method, Doppler method (intracoronary, transthoracic) |
| |

 Table 1
 Diagnostic tools for myocardial ischemia and coronary blood flow

ECG, electrocardiography; ³¹P NMR, myocardial phosphorus-31 nuclear magnetic resonance; PET, positron-emission tomography; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging.

Relevance of microvascular dysfunction in the pathogenesis of myocardial ischemia

Recently, it has become increasingly apparent that clinical manifestations of myocardial ischemia are associated not only with epicardial coronary flow, but also with downstream microcirculatory flow at the level of coronary microvessels [13,14]. The recognition of microvascular dysfunction could cause a paradigm shift in clinical practice. For instance, in patients with acute myocardial infarction, coronary microvascular dysfunction is responsible for the so-called "no-reflow" phenomenon, which is associated with a worse outcome as compared with those without it [15,16]. Therefore, in patients with acute myocardial infarction undergoing reperfusion therapy, careful attention should be paid not only to achieve epicardial coronary artery patency, but also to improve microvascular perfusion status [17]. It is also noted that, even in the absence of epicardial coronary artery disease, myocardial perfusion abnormality could develop due to microvascular dysfunction in patients with hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, and diabetes mellitus [18].

Endothelium-dependent modulation of coronary tone

In pathological conditions, the balance between endothelium-dependent relaxation and direct VSMC constriction plays an important determinant role in vascular tone [1,2]. Among the endotheliumderived relaxing factors, NO was originally found in the relaxation of isolated rabbit aorta in response to acetylcholine (ACh) [19]. NO binds to guanylyl cyclase and increases cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), resulting in VSMC relaxation. When the endothelium is removed, vasodilatation to ACh is converted to vasoconstriction, reflecting the effect of muscarinic VSMC contraction. Importantly, endothelial cells also play an important role in modulation of vascular tone of coronary microvessels. However, the response to physical forces (e.g. shear stress) and paracrine mediators varies depending on the vessel size [1,2,20]. Indeed, endothelial cells are substantially involved in regulating both epicardial and resistance coronary arteries.

Endothelium-derived NO

NO is formed in endothelial cells from L-arginine to citrulline by constitutive endothelial NO-synthase (eNOS) [21,22]. This reaction is controlled by calcium and calmodulin and is dependent on molecular oxygen, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADH) and its reduced form (NADPH), tetrahydrobiopterin (BH₄), adenosine diphosphate (ADP), flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD), and flavin mononucleotide (FMD). NO diffuses to VSMC and causes relaxation mainly by stimulating soluble guanylate cyclase, which catalyzes the production of cGMP. NO mediates vascular relaxation of relatively large, conduit arteries (i.e. aorta and epicardial coronary arteries), which is enhanced by cyclical or pulsatile changes in coronary shear stress (Figs. 1 and 2) [23]. NO-mediated vasodilatation is impaired in patients with risk factors for coronary artery disease due to reduced NO production and/or enhanced inactivation of NO [21,22].

Prostacyclin

Metabolism of arachidonic acid via cyclooxygenase can produce prostacyclin, which causes relaxation of certain VSMC by activating adenylate cyclase and increasing the production of cyclic 3',5'-adenosine



Figure 1 Different roles of endothelial NO synthases system depending on vessel size. Endothelial NO synthases system plays different roles depending on the vessel size, mainly NO generation in the conduit arteries and EDHF generation in microvessels. eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; nNOS, neuronal nitric oxide synthase; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; BH₄, tetrahydrobiopterin; SOD, superoxide dismutase; EDHF, endothelium-derived hyperpolarization factor; cGMP, cyclic guanosine monophosphate. (Reproduced from Ref. [23] with permission.)

monophosphate (cAMP). In most resistance vessels, the contribution of prostacyclin to endotheliumdependent relaxation is relatively minor [2] (Fig. 1). However, vasodilator prostaglandins are important



Figure 2 Different roles of endothelial NO synthases system in the coronary circulation in vivo. Endothelial NO synthases system plays an important role in modulation of vascular tone in the epicardial coronary artery as NO-generating system, whereas in coronary microcirculation, it exerts several protective effects as EDHF-generating system in collaboration with NO from the epicardial coronary artery, including coronary autoregulation, protection against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury, and metabolic coronary dilatation. PGI₂, prostaglandin I₂.

determinants of coronary collateral vessel tone, and inhibition of cyclooxygenase reduces collateral perfusion in dogs [24]. It is also important that prostacyclin acts synergistically with NO to cause vasodilatation [25].

EDHF

Feletou and Vanhoutte [26] and Chen et al. [27] independently demonstrated that diffusible substance released by the endothelium causes hyperpolarization of underlying VSMC, thus proposing the existence of EDHF. Several substances/mechanisms have been proposed for the nature of EDHF, including epoxyeisosatrienoic acids (metabolites of arachidonic P450 epoxygenase pathway) [28,29], K ions [30,31], and electrical communications through myoendothelial gap junctions [32,33]. We have recently demonstrated that endotheliumderived hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) is an EDHF in mouse [34] and human mesenteric arteries [35], and in porcine [36] and canine coronary microvessels [37]. Furthermore, endothelial Cu, Zn-superoxide disumutase (Cu, Zn-SOD) plays an important role for the synthesis of $EDHF/H_2O_2$ [38]. EDHF modulates vascular tone in small, resistance arteries in vitro [39], and in human forearm microcirculation in vivo [40] (Fig. 1). As in the case with NO, EDHF-mediated relaxations also are attenuated by several atherosclerotic risk factors [41,42]. Importantly, we were able to demonstrate that endogenous EDHF/H₂O₂ plays important cardioprotective roles in coronary microcirculation in vivo, including autoregulation [43], protection against ischemia/reperfusion [44], and metabolic coronary dilatation (Fig. 2) [45]. We also have recently demonstrated that in mice lacking all three NOS isoforms (triply NOSs^{-/-}), EDHF-mediated responses are absent in addition to NO-mediated responses [23] and that myocardial infarction occurs spontaneously associated with metabolic syndrome manifestations [46], indicating that endothelial NOSs system plays a pivotal role in maintaining cardiovascular homeostasis (Fig. 2).

Clinical implications of endothelial dysfunction

The clinical implications of endothelial dysfunction are well established. Risk factors, such as smoking, aging, hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, hyperglycemia, and a family history, are all associated with an attenuation or loss of endothelium-dependent vasodilatation [2,47,48]. It is also noted that markers of systemic inflammation are associated with endothelial dysfunction, including increased levels of C-reactive protein, and, as recently recognized, obesity and metabolic syndrome [49–51]. More importantly, recent studies demonstrated that the severity of endothelial dysfunction relates to cardiovascular events, including cardiac death, myocardial infarction, and need for revascularization [52,53] and that future events were poorly predicted by the degree of angiographic coronary stenosis alone [54].

As a surrogate for coronary circulation with less invasive fashion, endothelial function of forearm resistance vessels can be assessed by intra-arterial infusion of ACh. In their prospective follow-up study with patients with coronary artery diseases, Heitzer et al. showed that forearm blood flow response to intra-arterial ACh was an independent predictor of cardiovascular events and that a concomitant infusion of ascorbic acid improved endothelial function, probably due to its antioxidant effects [55]. The study with high-resolution ultrasound for the assessment of flow-mediated vasodilatation also demonstrated that endothelial dysfunction can identify patients at increased risk for cardiovascular events [56]. Thus, endothelial dysfunction is an important systemic process that could be identified in vascular beds other than the coronary or cerebral circulations.

Studies on endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) have demonstrated the novel aspect of the important role of the endothelium. Indeed, the degree of endothelial dysfunction is correlated with the number of EPCs [57] and the number of circulating EPCs also predicts the occurrence of cardiovascular events and death from cardiovascular diseases [52,58]. Recently, it has been reported that patients with cardiac syndrome X (microvascular angina) have a significantly increased number of circulating EPCs, suggesting endothelial dysfunction as an underlying mechanism in this disorder [59].

Microvascular angina (cardiac syndrome X)

Up to 20–30% of patients with angina-like chest pain who undergo coronary angiography have no flow-limiting epicardial coronary stenosis or spasm [60,61]. These patients are often defined as cardiac syndrome X [62] or microvascular angina [63], which is an important clinical entity. The cause(s) of this syndrome appears to be heterogeneous, in which coronary microvascular dysfunction appears to be involved, reflecting an inadequate coronary vasodilator capacity and/or enhanced coronary vasoconstrictor responses [64].

In patients with microvascular angina, limited mircovascular vasodilator reserve to various types of physiological and pharmacological stimuli has been repeatedly observed, including exercise, adenosine, dipryridamole, and atrial pacing [65–68]. Myocardial ischemia in those patients can be detected by pacing-induced myocardial lactate production [69] or regional myocardial perfusion defects on single photon emission computed tomography or PET imaging [70,71], for which inadequate increase in coronary blood flow appears to be involved.

As an underlying mechanism of the impaired mircovascular vasodilator reserve in microvascular angina, several lines of evidence suggest the involvement of blunted NO-dependent microvascular dilatation [68]. Indeed, long-term (4 weeks) oral supplementation with L-arginine improved exercise tolerance in those patients with the disorder [72]. It has been recently suggested that an increased synthesis of asymmetric dimethylarginine, which is known to reduce the bioavailability of L-arginine for NO synthase, contributes to the impaired NO activity in those patients [73]. Although it is highly possible that impaired EDHF responses also are involved in the pathogenesis of miscrovascular angina based on experimental findings [43–45], this



Figure 3 Pathogenetic mechanisms of coronary microvascular dysfunction. The pathogenetic mechanisms of coronary microvascular dysfunction may be heterogeneous, and many confounding factors cause both endothelial dysfunction and VSMC hyperconstriction, where activated Rho-kinase pathway may play an important role. CV, cardiovascular; ET-1, endothelin-1.

issue remains to be confirmed in patients with the disorder.

Several pathogenetic mechanisms and functional abnormalities may be involved in the pathogenesis of coronary microvascular dysfunction (Fig. 3). Increased plasma levels of endothelin-1 (ET-1) were reported in patients with microvascular angina [74–76]. Moreover, ET-1 levels have been reported to increase in the coronary circulation in response to atrial tachypacing in patients with the disorder [77].

Microvascular spasm and Rho-kinase

Enhanced Rho-kinase activity plays an important role in the pathogenesis of not only epicardial coronary spasm, but also microvascular spasm [78,79] (Fig. 3). Rho-kinase has been identified as one of the effectors of the small GTPbinding protein Rho. As a pharmacological inhibitor of Rho-kinase, fasudil [80] and hydroxyfasudil [81] have been developed. Intracoronary administration of fasudil or hydroxyfasudil markedly inhibits epicardial coronary spasm in porcine models with various inflammatory stimuli in vivo [82–85]. Indeed, the inhibition of Rho-kinase with fasudil/hydroxyfasudil is associated with the suppression of enhanced myosin light chain (MLC) phosphorylations (both MLC monophosphorylations and diphosphorylations) at the spastic coronary segments in those models (Figs. 3 and 4) [81,83]. Furthermore, activated Rho-kinase down-regulates endothelial NO synthase, causing endothelial dysfunction [86]. Thus, Rho-kinase activation is the central mechanism for vascular dysfunction with endothelial dysfunction and VSMC hypercontraction (Fig. 3).

We have previously demonstrated that in patients with rest angina, ischemic ECG changes and myocardial lactate production can be induced by intracoronary ACh without large epicardial stenosis or spasm (Fig. 5) [87]. Hasdai et al. also demonstrated that coronary blood flow, when evaluated with the Doppler flow guidewire system, was acutely decreased by intracoronary ACh without large epicardial coronary spasm [71]. Microvascular spasm is the underlying cause of myocardial necrosis in the cardiomyopathic Syrian hamster [88]. In patients with microvascular angina/spasm, pretreatment with intracoronary infusion of fasudil effectively prevented ACh-induced angina and myocardial ischemia (myocardial lactate production), indicating that Rho-kinase activation plays an important role in the pathogenesis of this disorder [89].



Figure 4 Role of Rho/Rho-kinase signaling pathway in VSMC hyperconstriction. Contraction is induced by the increased phosphorylation of MLC. The agonist-induced activation of G-protein-coupled receptors leads to the stimulation of MLCK through an increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration, and inhibition of MLCPh. Following stimulation by various agonists, the Rho/Rho-kinase-mediated pathway is activated, resulting in the inhibition of MLCPh (through phosphorylation of its MBS), with a resultant increase in MLC phosphorylation. This Rho-kinase-mediated contraction of VSMC can occur independently of intracellular Ca^{2+} levels and is known as 'calcium sensitization'. Rho-kinase can also increase MLC phosphorylation and contractility by inactivating MLCPh after phosphorylation of CPI-17 or by direct phosphorylation of MLC. Ach, acetylcholine; Ang II, angiotensin II; Cat, catalytic subunit; ET-1, endothelin-1; IP₃, inositol (1,4,5)-trisphosphate; M20, 20-kDa subunit; NE, norepinephrine; PLC, phospholipase C; PDGF, platelet-derived growth factor; Uro II, urotensin II. Stimulation is denoted by +; inhibition is denoted by –. (Reproduced from Ref. [110] with permission.)

Potential involvement of estrogen in the gender difference of microvascular dysfunction

Since most patients (approximately 70%) with microvascular angina are women during or after menopuase [90–93], it has been suggested that estrogen deficiency plays a pathogenic role in this disorder [94,95]. During menopause, estrogen levels are reduced to \sim 10% of pre-menopausal levels [96]. Estrogen receptors are widely expressed in the cardiovascular system [97] and modulate endothelial function [98]. Indeed, acute administration of exogenous estradiol increases peripheral blood flow [99] and improves endothelial function in menopausal women with microvascular angina [100,101]. Furthermore, it was demon-

strated that short-term supplementation with 17β-estradiol reduced the frequency of angina episodes in post-menopausal women with the disorder [102]. However, to date, there is no direct evidence that estrogen supplementation causes sustained improvement in coronary microvascular responses in those patients. These findings indicate the complexity of gender-related cardiovascular diseases and heterogeneity in the pathogenesis of microvascular angina. For example, women with the disorder have higher levels of anxiety or stress than those with coronary artery disease or healthy age-matched women [103]. Postmenopausal women also have many vascular risk factors (e.g., diabetes mellitus, obesity, hypertension, mental stress), which cluster more frequently in women than in men [104]. We have previously demonstrated that estrogen inhibits and nicotine



Figure 5 Clinical findings in a patient with microvascular angina. Representative coronary angiography and ECG recordings (left) and group data comparison of the lactate extraction ratio during acetylcholine (ACh) infusion with (n=13, fasudil group) and without pre-treatment of fasudil (n=5, saline group) (right). Intracoronary administration of ACh caused no appreciable vasoconstriction of epicardial coronary arteries, whereas ECG changes and myocardial lactate production indicated the occurrence of myocardial ischemia. Intracoronary pre-treatment with fasudil abolished the ACh-induced myocardial ischemia. F, fasudil; ISDN, isosorbide dinitrate. (Reproduced from Ref. [89] with permission.)

enhances the expression of Rho-kinase in human coronary VSMC in vitro [105] and that Rho-kinase is up-regulated in coronary VSMC in a porcine model of mental stress in vivo [106]. These results may explain, at least in part, why microvascular angina is frequent in women who are post-menopausal and/or under mental stress conditions.

Future strategies to improve vascular dysfunction

In this review, we introduced Rho-kinase inhibition and hormone (estrogen) replacement as a potential therapy to improve vascular dysfunction in specific clinical conditions. Although there



Figure 6 Possible indications of Rho-kinase inhibitors. Rho-kinase inhibitors may be useful for the treatment of a wide variety of cardiovascular diseases with various etiologies, including VSMC hypercontraction, arteriosclerosis, other smooth muscle cell (SMC) disorders, and others. (Reproduced from Ref. [110] with permission.)

is currently no gold standard treatment, the key pharmacological agents for endothelial dysfunction include statins, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), and angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors. These agents are well known to reduce cardiac events with less direct anti-ischemic/anginal effects, underscoring the role of endothelial and VSMC functions in cardiovascular events.

While reduction in serum cholesterol levels is likely the major mechanism by which statins improve endothelial function, in vitro studies suggest that so-called pleiotropic effects of statins may also be involved. Statins directly enhance expression, phsophorylation state, and activity of eNOS [107, 108]. Angiotensin II increases NAD(P)H oxidase activity, leading to increased production of reactive oxygen species and inactivation of NO. Angiotensin II generation also causes increased production of ET-1 and oxygen free radicals [109]. ACE inhibitors not only inhibit the generation of angiotensin II, but also inhibit the breakdown of bradykinin, a substance that stimulates NO/EDHF production. It remains to be fully elucidated whether angiotensin receptor blockers also could improve vascular functions and if so, what mechanisms are involved.

Accumulating evidence indicates that Rhokinase inhibitors could cover the wide range of pharmacological effects of the above-mentioned conventional cardiovascular drugs [110]. The phase II trial in patients with stable angina pectoris has demonstrated that long-term oral treatment with fasudil is effective in ameliorating exercise tolerance with adequate safety profiles [111,112]. Indeed, Rho-kinase inhibitors may be effective in a wide range of diseases, including coronary and cerebral vasospasm, hypertension, pulmonary hypertension, stroke, and heart failure (Fig. 6).

Conclusions

Abnormal endothelial and VSMC functions impair coronary circulation and cause myocardial ischemia, not only in epicardial coronary arteries, but also in coronary microcirculation. Rho-kinase pathway is recognized as an important regulator of vascular function at both epicardial and microvascular coronary level and therefore emerges as a novel therapeutic target in cardiovascular medicine.

Acknowledgments

The authors' work presented in this article was supported in part by the grants-in-aid from the

Japanese Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology, Tokyo, Japan, the Program for Promotion of Fundamental Studies in Health Sciences of the Organization for Pharmaceutical Safety and Research of Japan, and Technology Agency, CREST, Tokyo, Japan. The authors thank the co-workers at the Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Kyushu University Graduate School of Medical Sciences and at the Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine. The authors also thank Professor K. Kaibuchi and Dr. M. Amano at the Department of Cell Pharmacology and the Asahi Kasei Pharma for their cooperation in the present studies.

Disclosures: None.

References

- [1] Ross R. Atherosclerosis—an inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med 1999;340:115–26.
- [2] Shimokawa H. Primary endothelial dysfunction: atherosclerosis. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1999;31:23–37.
- [3] Hoffman JIE. Transmural myocardial perfusion. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 1987;29:429–64.
- [4] Cohn PF, Fox KM, Daly C. Silent myocardial ischemia. Circulation 2003;108:1263-77.
- [5] Buffon A, Santini SA, Ramazzotti V, Rigattieri S, Liuzzo G, Biasucci LM, et al. Large, sustained cardiac lipid peroxidation and reduced antioxidant capacity in the coronary circulation after brief episodes of myocardial ischemia. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000;35:633–9.
- [6] Weiss RG, Bottomley PA, Hardy CJ, Gerstenblith G. Regional myocardial metabolism of high-energy phosphates during isometric exercise in patients with coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 1990;323:1593–600.
- [7] Armstrong WF, Zoghbi WA. Stress echocardiography: current methodology and clinical applications. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;45:1739–47.
- [8] Kaufmann PA, Camici PG. Myocardial blood flow measurement by PET: technical aspects and clinical applications. J Nucl Med 2005;46:75–88.
- [9] Wilke NM, Jerosch-Herold M, Zenovich A, Stillman AE. Magnetic resonance first-pass myocardial perfusion imaging: clinical validation and future applications. J Magn Reson Imaging 1999;10:676–85.
- [10] Fearon WF, Farouque HM, Balsam LB, Caffarelli AD, Cooke DT, Robbins RC, et al. Comparison of coronary thermodilution and Doppler velocity for assessing coronary flow reserve. Circulation 2003;108:2198–200.
- [11] Hozumi T, Yoshida K, Ogata Y, Akasaka T, Asami Y, Takagi T, et al. Noninvasive assessment of significant left anterior descending coronary artery stenosis by coronary flow velocity reserve with transthoracic color Doppler echocardiography. Circulation 1998;97:1557–62.
- [12] Kataoka Y, Nakatani S, Tanaka N, Kanzaki H, Yasuda S, Morii I, et al. Role of transthoracic Doppler-determined coronary flow reserve in patients with chest pain. Circ J 2007;71:891–6.
- [13] Sambuceti G, L'Abbate A, Marzilli M. Why should we study the coronary microcirculation? Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2000;279:H2581–2584.

- [14] Camici PG, Crea F. Coronary microvascular dysfunction. N Engl J Med 2007;356:830–40.
- [15] Ito H, Maruyama A, Iwakura K, Takiuchi S, Masuyama T, Hori M, et al. Clinical implications of the 'no reflow' phenomenon. A predictor of complications and left ventricular remodeling in reperfused anterior wall myocardial infarction. Circulation 1996;93:223–8.
- [16] Wu KC, Zerhouni EA, Judd RM, Lugo-Olivieri CH, Barouch LA, Schulman SP, et al. Prognostic significance of microvascular obstruction by magnetic resonance imaging in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Circulation 1998;97:765–72.
- [17] Ito H. No-reflow phenomenon and prognosis in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med 2006;3:499–506.
- [18] Kaski JC, Aldama G, Cosín-Sales J. Cardiac syndrome X. Diagnosis, pathogenesis and management. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs 2004;4:179–94.
- [19] Furchgott RF, Zawadzki JV. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. Nature 1980;288:373–6.
- [20] Kuo L, Davis MJ, Chilian WM. Longitudinal gradients for endothelium-dependent and -independent vascular responses in the coronary microcirculation. Circulation 1995;92:518–25.
- [21] Moncada S. Nitric oxide: discovery and impact on clinical medicine. J R Soc Med 1999;92:164–9.
- [22] Ignarro LJ, Cirino G, Casini A, Napoli C. Nitric oxide as a signaling molecule in the vascular system: an overview. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1999;34:879–86.
- [23] Takaki A, Morikawa K, Murayama Y, Tekes E, Yamagishi H, Ohashi J, et al. Crucial role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase system in endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization in mice. J Exp Med, 2008, in press [Epub ahead of print].
- [24] Scholtholt J, Birringer H, Fiedler VB, Schölkens B. Effects of prostacyclin (PGI2) and adenosine (ASN) on total and regional blood flow of isolated, collateralized dog hearts. Basic Res Cardiol 1981;76:313–27.
- [25] Shimokawa H, Flavahan NA, Lorenz RR, Vanhoutte PM. Prostacyclin releases endothelium-derived relaxing factor and potentiates its action in porcine coronary arteries. Br J Pharmacol 1988;95:1197–203.
- [26] Feletou M, Vanhoutte PM. Endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization of canine coronary smooth muscle. Br J Pharmacol 1988;93:515–24.
- [27] Chen G, Suzuki H, Weston AH. Acetylcholine releases endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor and EDRF from rat blood vessels. Br J Pharmacol 1988;95: 1165–74.
- [28] Fisslthaler B, Popp R, Kiss L, Potente M, Harder DR, Fleming I, et al. Cytochrome P450 2C is an EDHF synthase in coronary arteries. Nature 1999;401:493–7.
- [29] Fleming I. Cytochrome P450 epoxygenases as EDHF synthase(s). Pharmacol Res 2004;49:525-33.
- [30] Edwards G, Dora KA, Gardener MJ, Garland CJ, Weston AH. K⁺ is an endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor in rat arteries. Nature 1998;396:269-72.
- [31] Edwards G, Weston AH. Potassium and potassium clouds in endothelium-dependent hyperpolarizations. Pharmacol Res 2004;49:535–41.
- [32] Taylor HJ, Chaytor AT, Evans WH, Griffith TM. Inhibition of the gap junctional component of endothelium-dependent relaxations in rabbit iliac artery by 18-alpha glycyrrhetinic acid. Br J Pharmacol 1998;125:1–3.
- [33] Griffith TM, Chaytor AT, Edwards DH. The obligatory link: role of gap junctional communication in endothelium-

dependent smooth muscle hyperpolarization. Pharmacol Res 2004;49:551-64.

- [34] Matoba T, Shimokawa H, Nakashima M, Hirakawa Y, Mukai Y, Hirano K, et al. Hydrogen peroxide is an endotheliumderived hyperpolarizing factor in mice. J Clin Invest 2000;106:1521–30.
- [35] Matoba T, Shimokawa H, Kubota H, Morikawa K, Fujiki T, Kunihiro I, et al. Hydrogen peroxide is an endotheliumderived hyperpolarizing factor in human mesenteric arteries. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002;290: 909–13.
- [36] Matoba T, Shimokawa H, Morikawa K, Kubota H, Kunihiro I, Urakami-Harasawa L, et al. Electron spin resonance detection of hydrogen peroxide as an endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor in porcine coronary microvessels. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003;23:1224–30.
- [37] Yada T, Shimokawa H, Hiramatsu O, Kajita T, Shigeto F, Goto M, et al. Hydrogen peroxide, an endogenous endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor, plays an important role in coronary autoregulation in vivo. Circulation 2003;107:1040-5.
- [38] Morikawa K, Shimokawa H, Matoba T, Kubota H, Akaike T, Talukder MA, et al. Pivotal role of Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase in endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization. J Clin Invest 2003;112:1871–9.
- [39] Morikawa K, Fujiki T, Matoba T, Kubota H, Hatanaka M, Takahashi S, et al. Important role of superoxide dismutase in EDHF-mediated responses of human mesenteric arteries. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2004;44:552–6.
- [40] Masumoto A, Hirooka Y, Shimokawa H, Hironaga K, Setoguchi S, Takeshita A. Possible involvement of Rhokinase in the pathogenesis of hypertension in humans. Hypertension 2001;38:1307–10.
- [41] Urakami-Harasawa L, Shimokawa H, Nakashima M, Egashira K, Takeshita A. Importance of endotheliumderived hyperpolarizing factor in human arteries. J Clin Invest 1997;100:2793–9.
- [42] Félétou M, Vanhoutte PM. EDHF: new therapeutic targets? Pharmacol Res 2004;49:565–80.
- [43] Yada T, Shimokawa H, Hiramatsu O, Kajita T, Shigeto F, Goto M, et al. Hydrogen peroxide, an endogenous EDHF, plays an important role in coronary autoregulation in vivo. Circulation 2003;107:1040–5.
- [44] Yada T, Shimokawa H, Hiramatsu O, Haruna Y, Morita Y, Kashihara N, et al. Cardioprotective role of endogenous hydrogen peroxide during ischemia-reperfusion injury in canine coronary microcirculation in vivo. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2006;291:H1138–46.
- [45] Yada T, Shimokawa H, Hiramatsu O, Shinozaki Y, Mori H, Goto M, et al. Important role of hydrogen peroxide in pacing-induced metabolic coronary vasodilatation in dogs in vivo. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007;50:1272–8.
- [46] Nakata S, Tsutsui M, Shimokawa H, Morishita T, Sabanai K, Nagasaki M, et al. Spontaneous myocardial infarction in mice lacking all nitric oxide synthase isoforms. Circulation 2008;117:2211–23.
- [47] Sorensen KE, Celermajer DS, Georgakopoulos D, Hatcher G, Betteridge DJ, Deanfield JE. Impairment of endothelium-dependent dilation is an early event in children with familial hypercholesterolemia and is related to the lipoprotein(a) level. J Clin Invest 1994;93:50–5.
- [48] Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Gooch VM, Spiegelhalter DJ, Miller OI, Sullivan ID, et al. Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. Lancet 1992;340:1111-5.
- [49] Fichtlscherer S, Rosenberger G, Walter DH, Breuer S, Dimmeler S, Zeiher AM. Elevated C-reactive protein levels

and impaired endothelial vasoreactivity in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation 2000;102:1000–6.

- [50] Steinberg HO, Chaker H, Leaming R, Johnson A, Brechtel G, Baron AD. Obesity/insulin resistance is associated with endothelial dysfunction. Implications for the syndrome of insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 1996;97:2601–10.
- [51] Lind L. Endothelium-dependent vasodilation, insulin resistance and the metabolic syndrome in an elderly cohort: the Prospective Investigation of the Vasculature in Uppsala Seniors (PIVUS) study. Atherosclerosis 2008;196: 795–802.
- [52] Schmidt-Lucke C, Rössig L, Fichtlscherer S, Vasa M, Britten M, Kämper U, et al. Reduced number of circulating endothelial progenitor cells predicts future cardiovascular events: proof of concept for the clinical importance of endogenous vascular repair. Circulation 2005;111:2981–7.
- [53] Schächinger V, Britten MB, Zeiher AM. Prognostic impact of coronary vasodilator dysfunction on adverse longterm outcome of coronary heart disease. Circulation 2000;101:1899–906.
- [54] Halcox JP, Schenke WH, Zalos G, Mincemoyer R, Prasad A, Waclawiw MA, et al. Prognostic value of coronary vascular endothelial dysfunction. Circulation 2002;106:653–8.
- [55] Heitzer T, Schlinzig T, Krohn K, Meinertz T, Münzel T. Endothelial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and risk of cardiovascular events in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation 2001;104:2673–8.
- [56] Gokce N, Keaney Jr JF, Hunter LM, Watkins MT, Nedeljkovic ZS, Menzoian JO, et al. Predictive value of noninvasively determined endothelial dysfunction for long-term cardiovascular events in patients with peripheral vascular disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:1769–75.
- [57] Hill JM, Zalos G, Halcox JP, Schenke WH, Waclawiw MA, Quyyumi AA, et al. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk. N Engl J Med 2003;348:593–600.
- [58] Werner N, Kosiol S, Schiegl T, Ahlers P, Walenta K, Link A, et al. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells and cardiovascular outcomes. N Engl J Med 2005;353:999–1007.
- [59] Shmilovich H, Deutsch V, Roth A, Miller H, Keren G, George J. Circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with cardiac syndrome X. Heart 2007;93:1071–6.
- [60] Proudfit WL, Shirey EK, Sones Jr FM. Selective cine coronary arteriography. Correlation with clinical findings in 1,000 patients. Circulation 1966;33:901–10.
- [61] Kemp HG, Kronmal RA, Vlietstra RE, Frye RL. Seven year survival of patients with normal or near normal coronary arteriograms: a CASS registry study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1986;7:479–83.
- [62] Kemp Jr HG. Syndrome X revisited. J Am Coll Cardiol 1991;17:507-8.
- [63] Kaski JC. Chest pain and normal coronary arteriograms: role of "microvascular spasm". Lancet 1998;351:1144-5.
- [64] Crea F, Lanza GA. Angina pectoris and normal coronary arteries: cardiac syndrome X. Heart 2004;90:457–63.
- [65] Opherk D, Zebe H, Weihe E, Mall G, Dürr C, Gravert B, et al. Reduced coronary dilatory capacity and ultrastructural changes of the myocardium in patients with angina pectoris but normal coronary arteriograms. Circulation 1981;63:817–25.
- [66] Cannon 3rd RO, Watson RM, Rosing DR, Epstein SE. Angina caused by reduced vasodilator reserve of the small coronary arteries. J Am Coll Cardiol 1983;1:1359–73.
- [67] Greenberg MA, Grose RM, Neuburger N, Silverman R, Strain JE, Cohen MV. Impaired coronary vasodilator responsiveness as a cause of lactate production during pacing-induced ischemia in patients with angina pec-

toris and normal coronary arteries. J Am Coll Cardiol 1987;9:743-51.

- [68] Motz W, Vogt M, Rabenau O, Scheler S, Lückhoff A, Strauer BE. Evidence of endothelial dysfunction in coronary resistance vessels in patients with angina pectoris and normal coronary angiograms. Am J Cardiol 1991;68:996–1003.
- [69] Camici PG, Marraccini P, Lorenzoni R, Buzzigoli G, Pecori N, Perissinotto A, et al. Coronary hemodynamics and myocardial metabolism in patients with syndrome X: response to pacing stress. J Am Coll Cardiol 1991;17:1461–70.
- [70] Galassi AR, Crea F, Araujo LI, Lammertsma AA, Pupita G, Yamamoto Y, et al. Comparison of regional myocardial blood flow in syndrome X and one-vessel coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 1993;72:134–9.
- [71] Hasdai D, Gibbons RJ, Holmes Jr DR, Higano ST, Lerman A. Coronary endothelial dysfunction in humans is associated with myocardial perfusion defects. Circulation 1997;96:3390–5.
- [72] Bellamy MF, Goodfellow J, Tweddel AC, Dunstan FD, Lewis MJ, Henderson AH. Syndrome X and endothelial dysfunction. Cardiovasc Res 1998;40:410–7.
- [73] Okyay K, Cengel A, Sahinarslan A, Tavil Y, Turkoglu S, Biberoglu G, et al. Plasma asymmetric dimethylarginine and L-arginine levels in patients with cardiac syndrome X. Coron Artery Dis 2007;18:539–44.
- [74] Kaski JC, Elliott PM, Salomone O, Dickinson K, Gordon D, Hann C, et al. Concentration of circulating plasma endothelin in patients with angina and normal coronary angiograms. Br Heart J 1995;74:620–4.
- [75] Hoffmann E, Assennato P, Donatelli M, Colletti I, Valenti TM. Plasma endothelin-1 levels in patients with angina pectoris and normal coronary angiograms. Am Heart J 1998;135:684–8.
- [76] Cox ID, Bøtker HE, Bagger JP, Sonne HS, Kristensen BO, Kaski JC. Elevated endothelin concentrations are associated with reduced coronary vasomotor responses in patients with chest pain and normal coronary arteriograms. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999;34:455–60.
- [77] Lanza GA, Lüscher TF, Pasceri V, Shaw SG, Buffon A, Montenero AS, et al. Effects of atrial pacing on arterial and coronary sinus endothelin-1 levels in syndrome X. Am J Cardiol 1999;84:1187–91.
- [78] Shimokawa H. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of coronary artery spasm. Lessons from animal models. Jpn Circ J 2000;64:1–12.
- [79] Shimokawa H, Takeshita A. Rho-kinase is an important therapeutic target in cardiovascular medicine. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005;25:1767–75.
- [80] Asano T, Ikegaki I, Satoh S, Suzuki Y, Shibuya M, Takayasu M, et al. Mechanism of action of a novel antivasospasm drug, HA1077. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1987;24:1033–40.
- [81] Shimokawa H, Seto M, Katsumata N, Amano M, Kozai T, Yamawaki T, et al. Rho-kinase-mediated pathway induces enhanced myosin light chain phosphorylations in a swine model of coronary artery spasm. Cardiovasc Res 1999;43:1029–39.
- [82] Shimokawa H, Ito A, Fukumoto Y, Kadokami T, Nakaike R, Sakata M, et al. Chronic treatment with interleukin-1β induces coronary intimal lesions and vasospastic responses in pigs in vivo. The role of platelet-derived growth factor. J Clin Invest 1996;97:769–76.
- [83] Katsumata N, Shimokawa H, Seto M, Kozai T, Yamawaki T, Kuwata K, et al. Enhanced myosin light chain phosphorylations as a central mechanism for coronary artery spasm in a swine model with interleukin-1β. Circulation 1997;96:4357–63.

- [84] Miyata K, Shimokawa H, Kandabashi T, Higo T, Morishige K, Eto Y, et al. Rho-kinase is involved in macrophagemediated formation of coronary vascular lesions in pigs in vivo. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000;20:2351–8.
- [85] Oi K, Shimokawa H, Hiroki J, Uwatoku T, Abe K, Matsumoto Y, et al. Remnant lipoproteins from patients with sudden cardiac death enhance coronary vasospastic activity through upregulation of Rho-kinase. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2004;24:918–22.
- [86] Takemoto M, Sun J, Hiroki J, Shimokawa H, Liao JK. Rho-kinase mediates hypoxia-induced downregulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Circulation 2002;106:57–62.
- [87] Mohri M, Koyanagi M, Egashira K, Tagawa H, Ichiki T, Shimokawa H, et al. Angina pectoris caused by coronary microvascular spasm. Lancet 1998;351:1165–9.
- [88] Factor SM, Minase T, Cho S, Dominitz R, Sonnenblick EH. Microvascular spasm in the cardiomyopathic Syrian hamster: a preventable cause of focal myocardial necrosis. Circulation 1982;66:342–54.
- [89] Mohri M, Shimokawa H, Hirakawa Y, Masumoto A, Takeshita A. Rho-kinase inhibition with intracoronary fasudil prevents myocardial ischemia in patients with coronary microvascular spasm. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:15–9.
- [90] Likoff W, Segal BL, Kasparian H. Paradox of normal selective coronary arteriograms in patients considered to have unmistakable coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 1967;276:1063-6.
- [91] Turiel M, Galassi AR, Glazier JJ, Kaski JC, Maseri A. Pain threshold and tolerance in women with syndrome X and women with stable angina pectoris. Am J Cardiol 1987;60:503-7.
- [92] Galassi AR, Kaski JC, Crea F, Pupita G, Gavrielides S, Tousoulis D, et al. Heart rate response during exercise testing and ambulatory ECG monitoring in patients with syndrome X. Am Heart J 1991;122:458–63.
- [93] Cannon 3rd RO, Epstein SE. "Microvascular angina" as a cause of chest pain with angiographically normal coronary arteries. Am J Cardiol 1988;61:1338–43.
- [94] Kaski JC. Overview of gender aspects of cardiac syndrome X. Cardiovasc Res 2002;53:620–6.
- [95] Asbury EA, Collins P. Cardiac syndrome X. Int J Clin Pract 2005;59:1063–9.
- [96] Shaw LJ, Bairey Merz CN, Pepine CJ, Reis SE, Bittner V, Kelsey SF, et al. Insights from the NHLBI-Sponsored Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE) Study: Part I: gender differences in traditional and novel risk factors, symptom evaluation, and gender-optimized diagnostic strategies. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;47(3 Suppl.):S4–20.
- [97] Orshal JM, Khalil RA. Gender, sex hormones, and vascular tone. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2004;286:R233–49.
- [98] Hayward CS, Kelly RP, Collins P. The roles of gender, the menopause and hormone replacement on cardiovascular function. Cardiovasc Res 2000;46:28–49.
- [99] Volterrani M, Rosano G, Coats A, Beale C, Collins P. Estrogen acutely increases peripheral blood flow in postmenopausal women. Am J Med 1995;99:119-22.

- [100] Roqué M, Heras M, Roig E, Masotti M, Rigol M, Betriu A, et al. Short-term effects of transdermal estrogen replacement therapy on coronary vascular reactivity in postmenopausal women with angina pectoris and normal results on coronary angiograms. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998;31:139–43.
- [101] Collins P, Rosano GM, Sarrel PM, Ulrich L, Adamopoulos S, Beale CM, et al. 17 Beta-estradiol attenuates acetylcholine-induced coronary arterial constriction in women but not men with coronary heart disease. Circulation 1995;92:24–30.
- [102] Rosano GM, Peters NS, Lefroy D, Lindsay DC, Sarrel PM, Collins P, et al. 17-Beta-estradiol therapy lessens angina in postmenopausal women with syndrome X. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;28:1500–5.
- [103] Asbury EA, Creed F, Collins P. Distinct psychosocial differences between women with coronary heart disease and cardiac syndrome X. Eur Heart J 2004;25:1695–701.
- [104] Bairey Merz CN, Shaw LJ, Reis SE, Bittner V, Kelsey SF, Olson M, et al. Insights from the NHLBI-Sponsored Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE) Study: Part II: gender differences in presentation, diagnosis, and outcome with regard to gender-based pathophysiology of atherosclerosis and macrovascular and microvascular coronary disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006;47(3 Suppl.):S21–9.
- [105] Hiroki J, Shimokawa H, Mukai Y, Ichiki T, Takeshita A. Divergent effects of estrogen and nicotine on Rho-kinase expression in human coronary vascular smooth muscle cells. Biophys Biochem Res Commun 2004;326:154–9.
- [106] Hizume T, Morikawa K, Takaki A, Abe K, Sunagawa K, Amano M, et al. Sustained elevation of serum cortisol level causes sensitization of coronary vasoconstricting responses in pigs in vivo: a possible link between stress and coronary vasospasm. Circ Res 2006;99:767–75.
- [107] Laufs U, La Fata V, Plutzky J, Liao JK. Upregulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by HMG CoA reductase inhibitors. Circulation 1998;97:1129–35.
- [108] Kureishi Y, Luo Z, Shiojima I, Bialik A, Fulton D, Lefer DJ, et al. The HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor simvastatin activates the protein kinase Akt and promotes angiogenesis in normocholesterolemic animals. Nat Med 2000;6:1004–10.
- [109] Griendling KK, Minieri CA, Ollerenshaw JD, Alexander RW. Angiotensin II stimulates NADH and NADPH oxidase activity in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res 1994;74:1141–8.
- [110] Shimokawa H, Rashid M. Development of Rho-kinase inhibitors for cardiovascular medicine. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2007;28:296–302.
- [111] Shimokawa H, Hiramori K, linuma H, Hosoda S, Kishida H, Osada H, et al. Antianginal effect of fasudil, a Rhokinase inhibitor, in patients with stable effort angina: a multicenter study. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2002;39: 319–27.
- [112] Vicari RM, Chaitman B, Keefe D, Smith WB, Chrysant SG, Tonkon MJ, et al. Efficacy and safety of fasudil in patients with stable angina: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;46:1803–11.

